1971

Warren Irrigation Company, A Corporation v. Milton T. Brown and Florence H. Brown, His Wife : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

Suit to quiet title to plaintiff's water rights and for a decree declaring an exchange of water rights terminated or, if such relief is not granted, for a decree restricting the defendants' water right, herein referred to as the "Lyman Skeen" right as to the water source, as to the quantity of water reasonably required to irrigate the defendants' land and requiring the defendants to pay their pro rata share of the cost of construction, operation

and maintenance of water diversion, storage and distribution facilities.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court decreed that the defendants are the owners of the Lyman Skeen water right as described in a decree, hereinafter referred to as the "1914 decree," declared that such right could be used on certain land owned by the defendants, determined the annual amount to be paid by the defendant for the water right, and awarded damages against the plaintiff.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The plaintiff and appellant seeks reversal of the decree and the entry of a decree declaring that the Lyman Skeen water right was terminated by a condition subsequent contained in the deed exchanged for the deed which created the right and restoring to the parties the rights originally owned by their predecessors or if such relief is not granted, the entry of a decree declaring that the Lyman Skeen right is limited to the land to which it was originally made appurtenant, and to the quantity of water that can be beneficially used thereon, that it is limited as to the water source, and that its owners are obligated to pay their pro rata share of the cost of construction, operation and maintenance of irrigation facilities.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant, Warren Irrigation Company, will be referred to in this brief as the "plaintiff" and the respondents, Milton T. and Florence H. Brown, will be referred to as the "defendants."

The plaintiff is a nonprofit corporation engaged in distributing water to its stockholders by means of the Warren Canal and other facilities. The canal formerly owned by the Utah Light & Power Company and Utah Light & Railway Company, diverts water from the Weber River near 12th Street, West of Ogden, and at points below from Four Mile and Mill Creeks. The main canal is 30 to 40 miles long, has a capacity of 90 second feet (Tr. 14), and carries water for the irrigation of land in and around Warren, Utah. The Skeen ditch with a capacity of 8 or 9 second feet, diverts water under the Lyman Skeen right from the Warren Canal and carries it to the defendants' property shown on Exhibit C. (Tr. 15).

The facts which relate to the creation of the Lyman Skeen water right are not in dispute. The right is the result of the exchange of deeds, one dated February 11, 1903, (Exhibit H) from Utah Light & Power Company to Lyman Skeen and the other dated February 16, 1904 (R. 47, 48) from Lyman Skeen and wife to Utah Light & Railway Company (successor to Utah Light & Power Company). For the convenience of the Court, a copy of each deed is appended hereto. (Appendix pp. 27-35). They will be referred to as the "1903 deed" and the "1904 deed."

The defendants, as successors of Lyman Skeen, claim ownership of the Lyman Skeen water right, not as it is described and limited in the 1903 deed, but as it is described in a decree in the case of Lyman Skeen v. Warren Irrigation Company, dated, February 10, 1914, and enforced by an order of the District Court of Weber County, dated, February 5, 1938, in a case entitled, Lyman Skeen and D. A. Skeen, Plaintiff, v. Warren Irrigation Co., and Utah Light & Railway Company, Defendants, dated August 22, 1913, No. 4201 which relates to conveyance rights in a canal.

The parties construe the documents mentioned above and their legal effect differently, the plaintiff contending that (1) the rights of the parties are determined by the 1903 and 1904 deeds, (2) the plaintiff has by denying water to the defendants, terminated the exchange of water rights as set out in the 1904 deed, (3) the 1914 decree and the 1938 order are not pertinent to the issue of termination, and (4) in the alternative, if the court should hold that the exchange is not terminated, by the condition subsequent in the 1904 deed, then the 1914 decree should be construed as merely substituting one provision, a method of delivery of water and not superseding the 1903 deed as contended by the defendants. The defendants on the other hand contend that the 1914 decree entirely superseded the 1903 and 1904 deeds that the plaintiff's predecessor and the plaintiff have already had their day in court, that the 1914 decree and the 1938 order are res judicata and there are no issues of fact or law before the court.

To avoid repetition, the language of the documents mentioned above will not be quoted and discussed in the statement of facts, but only in the argument.

The plaintiff has pleaded facts which raise equitable issues which must be considered only if the court holds that the happening of the condition subsequent did not terminate and restore to the parties the water rights as they existed prior to 1903. Evidence was offered and received in support thereof.

The full flow of water under the Lyman Skeen right, as fixed by the 1903 deed and the 1914 decree, greatly exceeds the quantity of water which can be beneficially used on the defendant's land. A civil engineer, Lew A. Wangsgaard, testified that the quantity of water provided by the flow of water set out in the 1914 decree would annually total 252 acre feet and that the land owned by the defendants originally described in the 1903 deed, comprised only 50.26 acres and reasonably required only 150 acre feet of water for irrigation. (Tr. 8-10). No other expert testimony was introduced on this issue. It was countered by the testimony of the defendant Milton T. Brown, that he needed all the water provided by the Lyman Skeen right. (Tr. 63).

In 1922, Lyman Skeen deeded to his sons, Blaine and Wilford, a total of 80 acres which included some 67.5 acres of the land described in the 1903 deed to which the Lyman Skeen water right was appurtenant. (See the map, Exhibit C and the deeds, Exhibit K.) The deed contained no reservation of the water right. The defend-

ants own only 50.26 irrigable acres which were described in the 1903 deed. (See Exhibit C and Tr. 16-18.)

The 1903 deed by its terms provides in paragraph (2) that the water to be furnished Lyman Skeen was to be "... from the *now existing rights* of the Utah Light & Power Company in the waters of Weber River, Mill Creek and Four Mile." The 1914 decree limits the source of water ... "to natural sources of supply (exclusive of its pumping plant) ..."

Testimony was given by J. Maurice Skeen that the sources of water in the Warren Canal are the Weber River, Four Mile Creek and Mill Creek and that in 1945 and 1954, pumps were installed at a cost of \$9,200.00, and in 1962, a dam was constructed in Weber River at a cost of \$56,527.00. In 1967, a diversion dam was constructed at a cost of \$16,800.00. Some of the costs were repaid by the ASCS. About 1932, the plaintiff purchased 1,500 acre feet of storage water in Echo Reservoir. (Tr. 27). Water from all sources has gone to Mr. Brown. (Tr. 27, 28). Following this testimony, an objection was made to the question as to whether there was any difference in the delivery of water as to the source of water. (Tr. 28). We quote from the record:

MR. SKEEN: We take the position under these documents Mr. Brown was entitled only to the water or water from the water source available on the date of the original indenture in 1903 and that he has no interest in the water that the companies purchased since or acquired by purchase, or otherwise.

MR. CLYDE: There is no issue on that. We don't deny that. I mean we are entitled to the four and five feet exactly as that deed says, and purchases they have made from Echo or improvements they have made in their pumping system to get other or different waters we have no interest.

MR. SKEEN: If you admit you have no interest, I will withdraw the question.

MR. CLYDE: All right. (Tr. 28)

It is alleged in paragraph 5 of the complaint that, "The defendants further claim the right to the benefit, without cost to them of all water diversion, storage and distribution facilities constructed at great expense to the plaintiff and its stockholders since February 11, 1903." (R. 2) The defendants claim that the payment of the sum of 30 cents per acre for 110 acres or \$33.00 meets all of the obligations of the defendants to pay for the water and the cost of operation and maintenance of the diversion and distribution system of the Warren Irrigation Company. The evidence is uncontradicted that the stock of plaintiff corporation has been assessed annually from 1929 to 1970 in amounts varying from \$2.00 to \$7.00 per share to pay for the maintenance of the canal, the diversion dam, pumping expense, water master and the "total expense." (Tr. 33). The Lyman Skeen right is shown on the books of the irrigation company, sometimes as 110 shares and sometimes as 110 acres, but it has always been assessed \$33.00 a year. (Tr. 32).

The trial court found that the 1914 decree superseded the 1903 deed and contained no limitations as to

the place of use (R. 83, 84) ; that the water has been delivered to Lyman Skeen and his successors from 1914 to 1968 and that the defendants now own 80 acres formerly owned by Lyman Skeen and that for at least 50 years, the Skeen Ditch water has been used on the 80 acres (R. 84). The court further found that the deeds from Lyman Skeen to Blaine and Wilford Skeen of 80 acres, did not carry any water and that all of the Lyman Skeen right was retained by Lyman Skeen and passed by mesne conveyances to the defendant. (R. 84, 85).

Finding of fact No. 6 provides in part as follows:

6. That the 1914 decree refers specifically to the deed from Utah Light & Power Company, dated in 1903, but does not make any reference to a 1904 deed on which plaintiff relies. That any claims or limitations provided for by the deeds could have been raised by plaintiff in the 1914 litigation. That the rights of the parties in regard to this water were settled by the 1914 decree, and the parties have abided by that decree at all times until about 1937.

In paragraph 7 of the findings, the court found that in 1968, the plaintiff company wrongfully elected to withhold half the Lyman Skeen water from the defendants, and the defendants had to lease 24 shares at a cost of \$7.75 a share in 1969 and \$8.50 in 1970. (R. 87).

The court found that the restriction on the place of use of the Lyman Skeen water was “. . . not carried forward into the decree . . .”; that the water had been used on land outside the 147 acre tract described in the 1903

deed since 1922 and that the entire 252 acre feet of water produced by the Lyman Skeen right can be beneficially used on the defendants' 80 acres of land (R. 87). The \$33.00 a year assessment as provided in the 1903 deed and carried forward to the 1914 decree was a payment in full for the water supplied. (R. 87).

The court below decreed that the defendants are the owners of the Lyman Skeen right as decreed in 1914 and that the plaintiff is hereby

“ . . . ORDERED to deliver the water to said defendants, measured over a weir constructed at or near the headgate of that certain lateral upon the north branch of defendants' canal system known as the Skeen Ditch, in strict accordance with the terms of said decree, and the plaintiff is hereby enjoined from claiming any right, title, estate or interest in said water or any part or portion thereof.”

It is further ordered that the Skeen right may be used on the 80 acres of land now owned by the defendants “ . . . and that the annual assessment for said water right to be paid by the defendant, is \$33.00 per year. Judgment for \$390.00 for the rental water was awarded to the defendants.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. The court should have enforced the termination provision in the 1904 deed.

2. The court erred in finding that the 1914 decree entirely superseded the 1903 deed and in failing to enforce the covenants in that deed.

3. The court erred in failing to include in the decree the restrictions imposed by the 1914 decree, by the 1903 deed, by the stipulations of defendant as to the source of water for the Lyman Skeen right, and by the law.

ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT SHOULD HAVE ENFORCED THE TERMINATION PROVISION IN THE 1904 DEED.

The 1903 deed from Utah Light & Power Company, party of the first part, to Lyman Skeen, Exhibit H — Appendix p. 27, conveyed to him a water right subject to conditions spelled out in detail. These are summarized as follows:

1. Subject to *all prior rights* on the basis of one second foot flowing continuously for each 150 acres of land the right to have delivered to Lyman Skeen water for use on 110 acres out of 147.37 acres specifically described "*and not otherwise.*"
2. The water to be furnished from the "now existing rights of the Utah Light & Power Company in the waters of the Weber River, Mill Creek, and Four Mile; provided that when the water commences to fail or is low or insufficient in said canal for any cause, or in the sources from which the water is obtained by the party of the first part

(Power Company) the grantee *shall have his proportion and pro-rata* of the water with others now and hereafter, on the same system."

3. The second party shall pay to the power company 30c "for each *acre of water* to which he is entitled" There follows a significant statement to the effect that, "And in default of the payment of said sums of money by the party of the second part, or its successors and assigns, *for water used* by the party of the second part, or his heirs and assigns, on said land or any part of them or otherwise said claim *for payment of water* shall at all times constitute a first lien of the party of the first part on all of said water and water rights hereby conveyed . . ." Emphasis and parenthetical statement added.

The 1904 deed from Lyman Skeen and wife, "parties of the first part" to the Utah Light & Railway Company, "party of the second part" recites that the parties of the first part are the owners of a water right amounting to 307.20—1046.95 of the whole of Salt Creek or Four Mile and are the owners ". . . of other interests in water rights including canals and water ditches, and

"Whereas the party of the second part is about *to make an exchange* of said water rights from the said Lyman Skeen and his wife Anna Skeen, and *in exchange therefor* to transfer to them certain water rights in the Utah Light & Railway Company's canals and reservoirs, hereinafter referred to." (Emphasis added.)

The next paragraph provides that in consideration of one dollar ". . . and also in consideration of a certain deed for water and water rights given by the Utah Light

& Power Company, predecessor of the Utah Light & Railway Company in favor of said Lyman Skeen, which said deed is dated the 11th day of February, 1903 . . .” the first parties grant, bargain, sell and transfer to the second party the water rights in Salt Creek and Four Mile Creek mentioned in the recitations quoted above.

The next provision of the deed contains a condition subsequent as follows:

“Provided always, and the above grant, by the party of the first part is made for the express consideration that in case the Utah Light & Railway Company, or its grantor, the Pioneer Electric Power Company, or any of its or their assigns, or successors in interest, shall wilfully refuse to carry out the agreement to deliver water which is contained in the deed, to the party of the first part hereto, which deed is dated in the caption 11th of February, 1903, then the grant of the water right in their deed shall cease and determine, and the parties hereto of the first part shall be restored to all the right they had prior to the giving of this deed, and no length of time shall vary their part of this agreement.

It is an elementary rule of construction that when two deeds are between the same parties related to the same subject matter or are parts of the same transaction, they will be construed together.

26 C.J.S., Sec. 91 Deeds, pp. 840-842

The rule is especially applicable where as in this case the 1904 deed specifically refers to the 1903 deed by date!

The two deeds when construed together clearly constitute an agreement for exchange of water rights. Lyman Skeen got the water right described in the 1903 deed and the Utah Light & Railway Company got the water right described in the 1904 deed. The exchange agreement contained the condition subsequent quoted above to the effect that upon the wilful refusal to carry out the agreement to deliver water under the 1903 deed “ . . . *the grant of the water right in their deed shall cease and determine*, and the parties hereto of the first part shall be restored to all the right they had prior to the giving of this deed . . .” (Emphasis added.)

The defendants have pleaded and proved that the plaintiff refused to deliver water to them in 1969 and 1970. Under the plain language of the 1904 indenture the “grant of the water right ceased and determined.” It is clear that the effect of this provision is automatic. There is no requirement of notice and by the plain terms of the instrument the defendants’ right has ceased and their right is restored to 307.20/1046.95 of the water of Salt Creek. No contention can successfully be made that there was laches because the indenture provides: “. . . and no length of time shall vary their part of this agreement.”

The agreement between the parties was made by the exchange of the indentures. The language of the deeds is clear and unambiguous, and the provision for termination of the exchange must be enforced. This disposes of the case.

The following argument on the other points shall not constitute a waiver of Point No. 1.

2. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE 1914 DECREE ENTIRELY SUPERSEDED THE 1903 DEED AND IN FAILING TO ENFORCE THE COVENANTS IN THAT DEED.

The trial court found (Findings Nos. 2, 6, 9 and 10; R. 83, 84, 85, 87, 88) in substance and effect that the 1914 decree superseded the 1903 and 1904 deeds and decreed that the defendants “. . . are now the owners of 100 per cent of the water right decreed to Lyman Skeen . . .” by the 1914 decree and ordered delivery of water in strict accordance with the terms of the decree. The findings and decree are the result of an erroneous construction of the decree.

The 1914 decree recites “. . . and the said parties having adjusted the differences between them in this action, and by stipulation made in open court, adjusted a settlement thereof, in which it was agreed that the terms of said settlement shall be entered as the decree in this action, . . .”

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that in lieu of the provision contained in that certain deed dated February 11th, 1903, from the Utah Light & Power Company to Lyman Skeen, the plaintiff, providing for the delivery to him of certain waters for irrigation purposes, that the said defendant as successor in interest of the said Utah Light & Power Company, beginning with the irrigation season

for the year 1915, and during each and every year thereafter, deliver to the plaintiff, his heirs, administrators and assigns, five second feet of water measured over a weir, to be constructed at or near the headgate of that certain lateral upon the north branch of defendant's canal system, known as the "Skeen Ditch," every fourteen days for a period of forty-eight hours, during the months of April, May and June, and for second feet every fourteen days for a period of forty-eight hours during the months of July, August and September, and the said plaintiff, his heirs, administrators and assigns, are hereby adjudged and decreed to have the right to the use of said five second feet of water for a period of forty-eight hours every fourteen days during the months of April, May and June, and four second feet of water for a period of forty-eight hours every fourteen days during the months of July, August and September, during the year 1915 and each and every year thereafter.

The next paragraph in the decree relates to failure to deliver water by reason of unavoidable accident to the canal, the following paragraph relates to the payment of \$33.00 for the water supplied and furnished and the final paragraph relates to the rights of the parties in the event of foreclosure of the rights of Lyman Skeen.

Assuming for the sake of argument only, that the exchange of water rights is still in effect, the vital question arises as to whether the language of the decree, "... that in lieu of the provision contained in that certain deed dated February 11, 1903 ..." means that the decree was intended to entirely supersede the deed or whether

the decree was intended to supersede only that provision of the deed which is modified by the decree, to-wit, the provision relating to the method of delivery of water.

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