1972

# Warren Irrigation Company, A Corporation v. Milton T. Brown and Florence H. Brown, His Wife : Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES HAVE ALREADY BEEN ADJUDICATED.

Before turning to the specific arguments of Appellant, we desire to note that this is an effort by the Appellant to collaterally attack the two earlier decrees entered against Appellant by the District Court for Weber County. The first litigation occurred in 1914, when Lyman Skeen filed his complaint in Civil No.

4677, alleging that Appellant was not delivering water to him in accordance with his rights under the 1903 deed. This litigation ended in a stipulated decree, which was very specific, and which the court quoted in its findings almost in full. (Finding No. 3, R. 83). It awarded Lyman Skeen 5 cubic feet of water for 48 hours out of every 14 days during the months of April, May and June, and 4 c.f.s. every 14 days for a period of 48 hours during the months of July, August and September. The water was to be supplied from Appellant's "natural sources of supply (exclusive of its pumping plant)." It further provided that if there was not sufficient water in the natural source of supply, the Warren Irrigation Co. "shall be required to deliver only such quantity as it may be able to divert and deliver from its said sources of supply." It fixed the annual payment "in full for the water supplied and furnished as aforesaid" at \$33 per year, and it concluded by stating that if the rights of the plaintiff under the decree shall be terminated by the "foreclosure of any mortgage now existing on the property of the defendant, then and in that case, the rights of the parties hereto, as provided in those certain deeds and contracts set out as exhibits in the answer herein, shall revive and become in full force and effect." The two deeds which were attached to the answer are the 1903 deed from the power company to Lyman Skeen and the 1904 deed from Lyman Skeen and his wife to the power company.

There is nothing in the record to indicate any trouble or dispute over the administration of this decree until 1937. In 1937, the Appellant refused to deliver water to Mary E. Brown and David A. Skeen, who were the successors in interest to Lyman Skeen. (Ex. 10) Mary E. Brown and David A. Skeen filed a petition in Civil No. 4677 on August 9, 1937. In that petition they alleged that they were the successors in interest of Lyman Skeen "and *now are the owners of all rights* given and granted to the plaintiff Lyman Skeen by a decree of this court entered herein on or about November 10, 1914." This allegation is admitted by the Appellant in its answer. The petitioners alleged that the Appellant was refusing to deliver water, and asked for an order directing the company to deliver the water to the petitioners, in accordance with the 1914 decree.

As is noted above, the then president of the company, A. D. East, and the company attorney, David Wilson, after finding the 1914 decree, stopped the trial and permitted the order of February 5, 1938 to be entered (Ex. L. Note: The pleadings are in Civil No. 4677. The order is in Civil 4201.) This order expressly recited that the petitioners were the successors of Lyman Skeen, and that they "are now the owners of all rights" awarded to Lyman Skeen in the 1914 decrees. It directed the appellant company to deliver the water and assessed damages.

We won't labor this point further here, but we do desire to note that there is not one single issue raised on this appeal or in the trial court that is not related to things which had transpired before this 1937 litigation. The irrigation of land outside that permitted by the 1903 deed had started sometime at or before 1922. (Tr. 21, 38). The 40-acre tracts had been sold to Blaine and Wilford Skeen in 1922. (Ex. K). From 1922 until 1938, when the order was entered, 100 per cent of the Skeen decreed right was delivered to Lyman and his successors in interest. (Tr. 21, 31, 33, 38-40). None of it was delivered to Blaine or Wilford. (Tr. 31, 33, 38-40). The appellant company continued to assess 100 per cent of the water to Lyman Skeen and his successors. (Ex. 11, 12, 13). It did not assess any to Blaine or Wilford. (Ex. 11, 12, 13). If this transfer to Blaine and Wilford in any way affected the right of Lyman and his successors in interest to receive the water, that pattern had existed for more than fifteen years, and could have been and should have been raised in the 1937 litigation. The 1904 deed from Lyman Skeen and his wife to the power company, which has a reversion clause in it, had, of course, been in existence since 1904. If it automatically cancelled the rights of Lyman Skeen and his successors, whenever the Appellant withheld the water, this could have been and should have been raised as a defense in both the 1914 and the 1937 litigation. Any problems about the source of the water to supply the decreed right could have been raised in the 1937 litigation, which the court will note was only concerned with the problem of water sources.



The parties have lived by the 1914 decree for more than 55 years. The Appellant has twice litigated this right, and every issue it now raises in this action and on this appeal could have been raised in 1937. The defenses are all based on things which transpired before 1937, and the trial court correctly held that these previous decrees were *res judicata*.

It is elementary law that the principles of *res judicata* apply not only to the issues which were raised and litigated, but also to all issues which could have been raised. This matter is noted in *Wheadon v. Pearson*, 14 U. 2d 45, 376 P. 2d 946. There the court quoted from its earlier decision in *East Mill Creek Water Co. v. Salt Lake City*, 108 Ut. 315, 159 P. 2d 863, as follows:

“ . . . there are two kinds of cases where the doctrine of *res judicata* is applied: In the one the former action is an absolute bar to the maintenance of the second; it usually bars the successful party as well as the loser; it must be between the same parties or their privies; it applies not only to points and issues which are actually raised and decided therein but also to such as could have been therein adjudicated, but it only applies where the claim, demand or cause of action is the same in both cases. In such case the courts hold that the parties should litigate their entire claim, demand and cause of action, and every part, issue and ground thereof, and if one of the parties fails to raise any point or issue or to litigate any part of his claim, demand or cause of action and the matter goes to final judgment, such party may not again litigate that claim, demand or cause

of action or any issue, point or part thereof which he could have but failed to litigate in the former action. . . ."

See also *Wood v. Turner*, 19 Ut. 2d 133, 427 P. 2d 397.

The foregoing is also in accordance with the general law. See 46 Am. Jur. 2d, Judgments, Section 417.

The previous lawsuits, both in 1914 and 1937, were between the Warren Irrigation Company as the defendant and Lyman Skeen and his successors in interest as the petitioners. The water right with which we are concerned here is the same water right which was the subject matter of the two previous suits. This lawsuit, and both of the previous matters involved a failure on the part of the Appellant to deliver the water. In each of the two previous suits the Appellant retained an attorney and filed an answer. Many of the arguments now being made could have been made in 1914. This is particularly true of the claim that the 1904 deed automatically cancelled both deeds when the Appellant failed to deliver the water. Also, since the assessment for the joint use of the canal had been assessed at \$33 per year, from at least 1907, that problem also could have been raised in 1914. Not one of the matters raised in Appellant's brief is based on anything that happened after 1937.

We thus submit that the matter is *res judicata*, and it should not be necessary to respond to these points, all of which could have been and should have been raised 30 to 55 years ago in previous litigation between the same parties over these same rights.

## POINT II

THE COURT SHOULD NOT HAVE TERMINATED RESPONDENTS' WATER RIGHT, BECAUSE OF THE REVERSION CLAUSE IN THE 1904 DEED.

There are two reasons why the reversion clause in the 1904 deed will not operate as Appellant contends. First, this argument is barred by the two decrees already entered, and second, Appellant is misconstruing the reversion clause.

The 1904 deed was in existence when the Appellant and Lyman Skeen had their lawsuit in 1914. In fact, the deed was attached to the answer filed by the Appellant in that case. (Ex. L). The complaint of Lyman Skeen then is the same as the complaint of the Respondents now — to-wit, the Appellant had cut down the amount of water it was delivering to Lyman Skeen. If this refusal to deliver water automatically cancelled both the 1903 and the 1904 deeds, as Appellant now contends, Appellant should have raised that as a defense in the 1914 litigation. Apparently neither of the parties so construed the deeds. In his amended complaint, Lyman Skeen alleged that the parties had been making an exchange since 1896, and in paragraph 5 he alleged that the parties had mutually agreed that the arrangement should be permanent, and that deeds would be exchanged. The Appellant admitted the exchange, admitted the execution of the deeds, and attached copies of the deeds to its answer. It could have asserted the defense

which the Appellant is trying to assert now, but it didn't do so. Rather, it stipulated to a decree, and for 55 years the parties have administered the water in accordance with that decree.

Again in 1937 the Appellant refused to deliver water, and the successors of Lyman Skeen filed a petition to compel them to do so. Again, this defense that the 1904 deed wiped out both deeds and the 1914 decree could have been asserted as a defense. It was not so asserted, and the court affirmed the right of the petitioners in an order signed February 5, 1938, and for the next 30 years the parties abided by that decree, without protest or problem, and the trial court correctly held that this issue could not be raised at this late date.

Further, we submit that Appellant is misconstruing the terms of the deed. There is, as noted above, a deed from the power company, dated February 11, 1903, to Lyman Skeen. This was introduced as Ex. H, and a copy is attached to the answer of the Appellant in the 1914 suit. (Ex. L) Lyman Skeen and his wife, on February 16, 1904, gave an exchange deed to the power company. A copy of this deed is attached to Appellant's answer in Civil 4677. This 1904 deed contains the following language:

"Provided always, and the above grant, by the party of the first part is made for the express consideration that in case the Utah Light & Railway Company, or its grantor, the Pioneer Electric Power Company, or any of its or their

assigns, or successors in interest, shall wilfully refuse to carry out the agreement to deliver water which is contained in the deed, to the party of the first part hereto, which deed is dated in the caption 11th of February, 1903, then the grant of the water right in their deed shall cease and determine, and the parties hereto of the first part shall be restored to all the right they had prior to the giving of this deed, and no length of time shall vary their part of this agreement."

We construe this provision to say that the power company and its successors are obligated to deliver water in accordance with the agreement which is contained in the 1903 deed, and if the power company and its successors wilfully fail to deliver the water, then the grant of the water right in "their deed", meaning the power companys' 1904 deed, shall cease and determine, "and the parties hereto of the first part" (meaning Lyman Skeen and his wife) "shall be restored to all of the right they had prior to the giving of *this deed*." (The 1904 deed). It does not say that the party of the second part will be restored to its rights. What it does say is that Lyman Skeen and his wife shall be restored to the rights they had before they gave "this deed", the 1904 deed, and that the rights of the power company under the 1904 deed shall cease and determine.

In any event, we think this question is now moot. It is a problem which existed in 1913, when the company wilfully failed to deliver water. It could have been and should have been raised as a defense to that suit.

It was also available as a defense in 1937, when the Appellant again refused to deliver water and it could have been and should have been raised as a defense to that suit. But it was not. The trial court, in Finding No. 6, expressly found that this claim and any other claim and limitations contained in the deeds could have been raised by the plaintiff (appellant here) in the previous litigation, but they were not, and in 1914 the court issued an order which it says was in lieu of the deed, and in 1937 the court entered a further order that Respondents' predecessors owned all of the rights decreed to Lyman. The Appellant is more than 55 years late in raising this argument.

### POINT III

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN THE COURT'S FINDING IN REGARD TO THE 1914 DECREE.

There isn't any finding by the trial court that the 1914 decree "entirely superseded the 1903 deed", as Appellant contends on page 14. This, in any event, is purely a collateral matter. Appellant does not tell us about anything that is in the 1903 deed which continues to control the rights of the parties, along with the 1914 decree.

The finding by the trial court that the decree was in lieu of the deed is in Finding No. 3, and the only thing the court does there is quote the language of the 1914 decree, which expressly says:

“That in lieu of the provision contained in that certain deed dated February 11, 1903,” etc.

Lyman Skeen should receive certain water. Finding No. 3 in this case concludes by noting that the limitation in the 1903 deed prohibiting the use of water outside the 147-acre tract was not carried forward in the decree. (R. 83). This is a correct finding.

Appellant apparently wants this court to imply that the trial court placed its holding in regard to the place where the water could be used entirely on the fact that the limitation was not carried forward from the deed to the decree. It is clear, however, that this is not so.

The court, after correctly noting that this limitation was not carried forward into the decree, found in Finding No. 4 that for at least 50 years the water described in the 1914 decree has been used on the 80 acres which the Respondents now own. (R. 84). Then in Finding No. 10 (R. 87) the court found that since at least 1922 the decreed water had been used on Respondents' 80 acre-tract, that it had been assessed against the Respondents and their predecessors in interest, no complaint has ever been made about the place of use, and that the plaintiff is now barred by its own conduct, by its laches, and its long acquiescence in the place of use from now complaining that some of the water is used outside the 147 acre tract described in the 1903 deed.

The court also found in Finding No. 9 that the water was being used outside the 147 acre tract in 1937, when Mary E. Brown and David Skeen filed their petition against the Appellant, and the court expressly noted that the irrigation company could have raised any issues relating to the place of use in 1938 in that litigation, but did not do so. Appellant has not shown how it is damaged by the change in place of use. Appellant makes no effort to respond to the basis on which the court placed its decision. It merely makes the theoretic argument that the court wrongfully implied that every provision of the 1903 deed was superseded by the 1914 decree. The court made no such finding, and entered no such conclusion, and we don't know whether as an abstract matter the issue is genuine or moot. Certainly the finding that the limitation in the deed on the place of use was not carried forward into the decree is simply one detail in explanation of the fact that at least since 1922 the Appellant company and Lyman Skeen and his predecessors have ignored this provision of the deed and for the holding by the court that this is a matter that could have been and should have been raised in 1938. The court also found that the water right had been assessed to Respondents and their predecessors, that they have paid the assessment and based on all of these matters, the court held that this use outside the 147 acres described in the 1903 deed is not something the appellant can raise now.



We don't know what other provisions there are in the deed which Appellant contends have survived the decree. Certainly the schedule for delivering the water was expressly changed. Also, the deed provided that the water was to be furnished from the waters of the Weber River, Mill Creek and Four Mile. The decree provided that the water should be delivered from the company's natural sources of supply "exclusive of its pumping plant."

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